GSPPA-VIII/20/Report

Eighth Session of the Global Soil Partnership Plenary Assembly

Rome, Italy, 3-5, June 2020



Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations



GSPPA-VIII/20/Report

REPORT OF THE EIGHTH SESSION OF THE GLOBAL SOIL PARTNERSHIP PLENARY ASSEMBLY

Rome, 3-5, June 2020

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

Contents

Opening of the Session 1
Item 1: Adoption of the Agenda (GSPPA: VIII/2020/1)1
Item 2: Global Soil Partnership – Accomplishment, Challenges and Way Forward: A Stocktaking Review (GSPPA: VIII/2020/2)
Item 3: Report on the financial status of the GSP (GSPPA: VIII/2020/3) 2
Item 4: ITPS main achievements (GSPPA: VIII/2020/4)
Item 5: World Soil Day theme for 2021 (GSPPA: VIII/2020/5)
Item 6: Status of Global Symposia (GSPPA: VIII/2020/6)
Item 7: Feasible and regionally contextualized guidelines for monitoring, reporting and verification of SOC stocks and SOC changes (GSPPA: VIII/2020/7)
Item 8: Highlights on the work of the GSP Pillars (GSPPA: VIII/2020/8)5
Item 9: Status of Global assessments (GSPPA: VIII/2020/9)7
Item 10: Report on Regional Soil Partnerships (GSPPA: VIII/2020/10)7
Item 11: Date and venue of the next Plenary session7
ANNEX I - List of Participants

Opening of the Session

The eighth-session of the Plenary Assembly (PA) of the Global Soil Partnership (GSP) was held virtually from 3 to 5 June 2020 (the list of participants is attached as Annex I).

The session was chaired by Ms Floria Bertsch (Costa Rica), the Vice-Chair was Mr Thanawat Tiensin (Thailand) and the Rapporteur was Mr Hans Brand (The Netherlands).

Ms Maria Helena Semedo, Deputy Director-General for Climate and Natural Resources at FAO, welcomed participants to the virtual Plenary Assembly and acknowledged the commitment of the GSP and its partners to promote sustainable soil management (SSM) at all levels to contribute to climate change adaptation and mitigation, food security and the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). She stressed the central role of the GSP Plenary Assembly as a decision platform to review, set priorities and take strategic decisions for the global soil agenda. In view of the COVID19 pandemic, Ms Semedo also stressed that new challenges must be met to produce more while reducing our impact on the environment. Ms Semedo presented some of the progress made among the GSP activities, including the global soil salinity map, the International Code of Conduct for the Sustainable Use and Management of Fertilizers Fertilizer Code, the global assessments on soil pollution and soil biodiversity, the RECSOIL programme, and pointed out that the evaluation report of the GSP could provide interesting ways to move forward. Ms Semedo acknowledged the extensive work done by the Intergovernmental Technical Panel on Soils (ITPS) and its scientific support to the GSP. Ms Semedo also expressed her gratitude to the resource partners without whom the GSP would not have carried out its various projects. Lastly, she encouraged the implementation of the Fertilizer Code and other tools on the ground.

Mr Eduardo Mansur, Director of the Land and Water Division at FAO, expressed his gratitude to the large number of participants at the Plenary Assembly, which reflected a great commitment to the soil agenda. Mr Mansur stressed the need for the Plenary Assembly to take place, even virtually despite the current global situation, as the decisions of the Assembly will need to be reported to the Committee on Agriculture in September 2020. Then, Mr Eduardo Mansur introduced the agenda and emphasized the need for a decision by the GSP Partners on various GSP initiatives such as the Measurement, Reporting and Verification of Soil Organic Carbon Protocol (GSOC-MRV), the Protocol for the Assessment of Sustainable Soil Management practices. Finally, Mr Mansur encouraged FAO Members to support the Global Soil Salinity and Soil Organic Carbon Sequestration Potential maps as well as the global assessments on soil pollution and soil biodiversity.

Item 1: Adoption of the Agenda (GSPPA: VIII/2020/1)

Although there was a suggestion to amend the agenda to allow more time for FAO members and partners to address the Protocol for the Assessment of Sustainable Soil Management practices, the agenda was adopted as it was.

Item 2: Global Soil Partnership – Accomplishment, Challenges and Way Forward: A Stocktaking Review (GSPPA: VIII/2020/2)

The Assembly expressed its appreciation for the efforts made to carry out the evaluation despite the COVID19 pandemic and welcomed the findings of the report on the GSP and its many achievements in placing soils on the global agenda. The PA supported recommendation 1 to transition from the pillars to outcome areas for soil health. During the discussion, it was acknowledged that bridging the gap between soils and issues such as biodiversity, climate change under the SDGs umbrella, could ease the mobilization of financial resources.

While the PA also endorsed recommendations 2, 4 and 5 of the report, Members stressed the need for further discussion on Recommendation 3.

In principle, the Assembly supported the institutional repositioning of the Global Soil Partnership as an FAO statutory body, however requested the Secretariat to perform a sound assessment of the legal, and financial implications of such institutionalization including the impact on the participation on non-state actors. This request should be submitted to the 27th session of the COAG for consideration.

During the discussion, the PA recalled the importance of non-State actors in the success of the GSP and requested more details on the impact of the institutionalization of the GSP on those partners. Finally, it was recognized that changing the status of the GSP into an FAO statutory body would facilitate the engagement of governments and support the implementation of soil protection in developing countries where soil is currently not a priority.

The PA requested the Secretariat, with inputs from the ITPS and RSPs, to prepare a plan to implement the main recommendations made by this evaluation. Such a requested should be submitted to the attention of the 27th session of the COAG

The Assembly invited the Secretariat to further analyze and facilitate the implementation of those recommendations of the evaluation that are of a more straightforward nature, in order to enhance the performance of the partnership.

Finally, the PA invited partners, the national focal points, and all working group members involved in GSP activities to take note of the comments and recommendations made regarding their roles in the GSP structure.

Item 3: Report on the financial status of the GSP (GSPPA: VIII/2020/3)

The PA took note of the efforts made to mobilize the necessary resources for the implementation of the GSP activities and reiterated its appeal to all partners, and in particular to those partners that have not yet contributed to the GSP.

The PA requested the Secretariat to enhance its efforts towards having a more active resource mobilization strategy so that countries and regions can be financially supported to implement soil actions.

Item 4: ITPS main achievements (GSPPA: VIII/2020/4)

The PA appreciated the overview presentation made by the ITPS Chairperson, Ms. Rosa Poch, who informed the PA members of the numerous activities and publications in which the ITPS has participated since the seventh session of the GSP Plenary Assembly. The PA expressed its appreciation for the wide range of relevant activities carried out, particularly the extensive work done on soil organic carbon.

The PA endorsed the work plan for 2020-2021 and welcomed the commitment of the ITPS to work on soils and Small Island Developing States (SIDs). However, the Assembly expressed some concerns about the feasibility of the ITPS to review all GSP documents given the increasing number of publications and topics covered by the Secretariat. During the discussion, it was suggested to increase the number of ITPS Members to respond effectively and in a timely manner to the increasing workload of the ITPS and the limited financial and time resources. The PA urged countries and partners to encourage their national experts to participate in the different activities lead by the ITPS and suggested the establishment of a database of soil experts for each region to strengthen partnerships among regional scientists and support the ITPS. Finally, the recommendation made at the previous Plenary Assembly to carry out an economic assessment to encourage farmers to implement soil conservation measures was recalled.

Item 5: World Soil Day theme for 2021 (GSPPA: VIII/2020/5)

5.1. Report on the Glinka World Soil Prize

The PA took note of the successful organization of the 2019 Glinka World Soil Prize, sponsored by the Russian Federation. The award ceremony was held at FAO Headquarters on World Soil Day and the Glinka World Soil Prize 2019 went to Xu Minggang, Director and Professor from the South Subtropical Crops Research Institute, Chinese Academy of Tropical Agricultural Sciences (CATAS) and Professor (Soil Science) and Research Leader from the Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences (CAAS). The GSP invited partners to disseminate the call for nominations for 2020 to ensure a more inclusive contest with entries from the different regions of the world.

5.2. Report on the King Bhumibol World Soil Day Award

The PA noted the success of the King Bhumibol World Soil Day Award in 2019, sponsored by the Kingdom of Thailand. The award ceremony was held in Bangkok, Thailand, and the King Bhumibol World Soil Day Award Prize 2019 from the Honorable Minister of Agriculture and Cooperative of Thailand went to the Association of soil from Costa Rica (Asociación de la Ciencia del Suelo ACCS) with its programme Manos al Suelo.

5.3. Report on the implementation of World Soil Day 2019 and its celebration in 2020

The PA recognized the successful celebration of World Soil Day (WSD) on 5 December 2019 and the steady increase in the number of countries organizing events each year and the popularity of the celebration at the global level. The GSP renewed its call to members and partners, and new stakeholders to organize WSD celebrations using the 2020 theme "Keep soil alive, protect soil biodiversity".

The theme for WSD 2021 was amended at the request of the delegation of Colombia and supported by Members and Partners. The PA endorsed the amended theme for the WSD 2021: "Halt soil salinization, boost soil productivity". During the discussion however, some partners pointed out that some countries do not face such a threat, which may complicate the implementation of activities on this topic.

Item 6: Status of Global Symposia (GSPPA: VIII/2020/6)

6.1. Follow up Global Symposium on Soil Organic Carbon

The PA noted the extensive work done on the implementation of the recommendations resulting from the Global Symposium on Soil Organic Carbon (GSOC'17). The PA recalled the importance of the development of the Global Soil Organic Carbon Sequestration Potential Map (GSOCseq) and acknowledged the work done by the GSP to update the Global Organic Carbon Map (GSOCmap) annually. During the discussion, the need to continue fostering cooperation between the GSP, and the World Overview of Conservation Approaches and Technologies (WOCAT) was expressed regarding the sustainable soil management database and protocol. Support was also expressed on the full implementation of RECSOIL.

6.2. Follow up Global Symposium on Soil Pollution

The PA acknowledged the progress on the implementation of the outcome document that resulted from the Global Symposium on Soil Pollution (GSOP'18), including the Technical Guidelines for Assessing, Mapping, Monitoring and Reporting on soil pollution, and the Database of Best Available Techniques for Managing and remediating polluted soils. The Global Assessment of Soil Pollution will be presented separately under *Item 9.1*.

6.3. Follow up Global Symposium on Soil Erosion

The PA appreciated the progress made on the implementation of the outcome document that resulted from the Global Symposium on Soil Erosion (GSER'19). The PA took note that most of the erosion work, including the Global Soil Erosion map (GSERmap), will take place in 2021 as the GSP is currently focusing on Salinity and Carbon Sequestration maps.

6.4. Global Symposium on Soil Biodiversity

The PA appreciated the progress in the preparation of the Global Symposium on Soil Biodiversity and acknowledged the work of the GSP to maintain the momentum despite the postponement of the event due to the COVID19 pandemic, through the organization of a webinar on soil biodiversity, the launch of a photo and video contest on soil biodiversity and the World Soil Day campaign. The Report on the State of Knowledge on Soil Biodiversity will be presented separately under *Item 9.2*.

The PA encouraged the Secretariat to find options to either make the Global Symposium fully virtual or partially allow virtual attendance to the participants who will not be able to physically attend due to financial or travel restrictions resulting from the COVID19 pandemic.

6.5. Global Symposium on Salt Affected Soils

The PA appreciated the organization of the Global Symposium on Salt Affected Soils and underlined its great relevance for many members facing soil salinization. Similarly to the Global Symposium on Soil Biodiversity, it was suggested to find options to either hold the Symposium virtually or available online for the participants who may not be able to attend due to financial or travel restrictions resulting from the COVID19 pandemic.

The PA endorsed the convening of the Global Symposium on Soil Fertility to be held in March 2022 at FAO Headquarters after the Global Symposium on Soil Biodiversity and the Global Symposium on Salt Affected Soils.

Item 7: Feasible and regionally contextualized guidelines for monitoring, reporting and verification of SOC stocks and SOC changes (GSPPA: VIII/2020/7)

The PA recognized the significant work done by the GSP on the GSOC-MRV Protocol for Measurement, Reporting, Verification and Monitoring of Soil Organic Carbon in Agricultural Landscapes. The PA endorsed the GSOC-MRV Protocol and requested the Secretariat to include a note clarifying that this is a technical document in support of the SOC work and that its use is not mandatory but voluntary. During the discussion, it was recommended to start with pilot projects as soon as possible to better understand the applicability of the Protocol and to continue its evolution. The PA encouraged members and partners to make full use of this GSOC-MRV as a voluntary tool for measuring soil organic carbon change in agricultural landscapes.

Item 8: Highlights on the work of the GSP Pillars (GSPPA: VIII/2020/8)

8.1. International Code of Conduct for the Sustainable Use and Management of Fertilizers

The PA commended the efforts made to disseminate and raise awareness on the issues and principles covered by the International Code of Conduct for the Sustainable Use and Management of Fertilizers, and recognized the gap that currently exists in this regard. The PA invited members to apply the Fertilizer Code, where appropriate, at the national level. The PA endorsed the Plan of Action to implement the International Code of Conduct for the Sustainable Use and Management of Fertilizers. The PA recommended strengthening cooperation with other institutions working on similar issues, such as UNEP, which is currently working on the UNEA-4 report addressing pesticides and fertilizers.

8.2. Protocol for the Assessment of Sustainable Soil Management Practices

The PA recognized the extensive work done by the ITPS and the GSP Secretariat to refine the Protocol for the Assessment of Sustainable Soil Management practices. They clarified that the Protocol should be a

GSPPA-VIII/20/Report

technical tool in support of the Voluntary Guidelines for Sustainable Soil Management that can be used on a voluntary basis to assess the sustainability of applied soil management practices. The PA endorsed the original version of the protocol in principle on the condition that a further interactive and inclusive process be launched over a two-month period and that consensus on the Protocol be reached. An ad-hoc virtual session of this Assembly will then be organized in September 2020 for final approval of the Protocol.

During the discussion, it was emphasized that the Protocol for the Assessment of Sustainable Soil Management Practices will fill an important gap and provide a comprehensive framework for the implementation of the Voluntary Guidelines for Sustainable Soil Management that can be complemented at national level. The PA suggested establishing a pilot project to explore the applicability of the Protocol.

Finally, it was strongly suggested to develop a protocol for the field level to allow farmers to also be able to measure the success and impact of the sustainable soil management practices they implement, as the current Protocol will be mainly applied by soil specialists and laboratory technicians rather than farmers.

8.3. Development of SoiLEX database

The PA recognized the important work done to develop SoiLEX, a global online database on legal instruments related to soil. The PA supported the use of SoiLEX as a living tool that will help raise awareness of the importance of legal frameworks for soil protection and conservation and invited members to review the legal frameworks available for each country under SoiLEX. During the discussion, it was recalled that SoiLEX should be considered as a core activity linked to all the different areas of the GSP work as a science-policy interface.

8.4. Status of Pillar 4 and global maps

The PA recognized the importance and progress made on the Global Soil Organic Carbon Sequestration Potential Map (GSOCseq) and the Global Soil Salinity Map (GSSmap). The Assembly invited countries to fully engage into these initiatives by preparing national maps in accordance with the respective technical specifications and country guidelines.

The PA commended the development of GloSIS and further encouraged the GSP Focal Points to carry out the necessary consultations and ensure the nomination of national soil information institutions to be part of INSII and to participate in the development of GloSIS. The PA endorsed the extension of the current Pillar 4 Implementation period and the mandate of the GSP Soil Data Facility until the 9th GSP Plenary Assembly.

8.5. Global Soil Laboratory Network

The PA welcomed the substantive work done by the Global Soil Laboratory Network (GLOSOLAN) and its Regional Soil Laboratory Networks (RESOLANs), in the field of soil analysis and soil data harmonization. The Assembly invited members to support all GLOSOLAN ongoing activities and to encourage soil laboratories to join the networks.

The PA endorsed the establishment of the International Network on Fertilizers Analysis (INFA) within the framework of GLOSOLAN to work on the harmonization of fertilizer analysis methods. The PA noted the launch of the INFA initiative to be organized in September 2020.

Item 9: Status of Global assessments (GSPPA: VIII/2020/9)

9.1. Global Assessment of Soil Pollution

The Plenary Assembly expressed its appreciation for the efforts made in conducting the Global Assessment on Soil Pollution, prepared by scientists from around the world, despite the difficulties associated with the limited financial resources available. The Assembly supported the completion and wide dissemination of the Global Assessment of Soil Pollution, called on countries to implement actions at the national level to address soil pollution, while the ITPS and the GSP Secretariat are encouraged to use this opportunity to seek resources and promote actions to fill identified gaps on the soil pollution full cycle, from assessment and quantification to remediation at field level.

9.2. Assessment of the State of Knowledge of Soil Biodiversity: Status, challenges and potentialities

Likewise, the PA commended the process of producing the report on the State of Knowledge of Soil Biodiversity: Status, challenges and potentialities and urged countries to promote the sustainable use and conservation of soil biodiversity by supporting long-term monitoring and the development of standard protocols, as well as the implementation of on-the-ground policies of soil biodiversity. The PA called on countries to implement vigorous actions at the national level following the publication of the report to address critical issues that require attention.

Item 10: Report on Regional Soil Partnerships (GSPPA: VIII/2020/10)

The PA reiterated the need for strong support to the RSPs by mobilizing resources (financial, expertise, hosting of meetings, etc.) and also by facilitating key regional activities, including active networks and soil information systems. The Assembly further encouraged the full participation of focal points in regional activities and the development of strong networks of experts in each region.

Item 11: Date and venue of the next Plenary session

The PA noted that the dates and venue for the next ad-hoc virtual meeting of the 8th Plenary Assembly (September 2020) and the 9th Plenary Assembly (2021) will be communicated as soon as FAO and Romebased Agencies will have restructured the calendar of events given the COVID19 pandemic.

ANNEX I - List of Participants

FAO members		
Country	Participants	
Afghanistan	Hameedullah AHMADZAI	
Argentina	Carla PASCALE MEDINA	
Armenia	Samvel SAHAKYAN	
Australia	Nathan SIBLEY	
Austria	Andrea SPANISCHBERGER	
Bangladesh	Md Taiabur RAHMAN	
Belgium	Martine SWERTS	
	Igor ANDRADE VIDAL BARBOSA	
Brazil	Leonardo ISOLAN	
טומצוו	Gianina MÜLLER POZZZEBON	
	Jefé RIBEIRO	
Cameroon	Arlende Flore NGOMENI EPSE NGUENGOUE	
Canada	Robert TURNOCK	
Cape Verde	Jacques TAVARES	
	Li YONGTAO	
	Zhang BIN	
	Pei JIUBO	
China	Ren TUSHENG	
	Sun BO	
	Zhang JUNLING	
	Wang HONG	
	Olga Lucia OSPINA ARANGO	
Colombia	Sebastian ACOSTA TRIANA	
Coondia	Marcela RODRIGUEZ JIMENEZ	
	Ana Maria RIVERO SANTOS	
	Luis Fernando CECILIANO	
Costa Rica	Amarilli VILLEGAS	
CUSIC KICA	Pablo INNECKEN	
	Frederico ZAMORA	
Cyprus	Marios GEORGIADES	
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	Kim CHON GIL	
Dominican Republic	Diane INFANTE	

FAO members

	Julia VICIOSO
	Liudmila KUZMICHEVA
Ecuador	Manuel CARRILLO
Egypt	Ramzy STENO
Estonia	Alar ASTOVER
LStoria	Antonella URBANO
	Bavo PEETERS
	Beatrice ARGENTI
European Commission	Cara STAUSS
	Luca MONTANARELLA
	Mirco BARBERO
Fiji	Guofu GUOGU
Finland	Aleksi Heikki Samuel LEHTONEN
	Jean GUEDON
	Laureline BOBIN
	Corinne BRUNON-MEUNIER
France	Delphine BABIN-PELLIARD
	Frederic LAFFONT
	Marie-Francoise SLAK
	Jean-Luc CHOTTE
Gambia	Abdou Rahman JOBE
Georgia	Ekaterine SANADZE
Germany	Ingeborg Maria BAYER
Holy See	Fernando CHICA ARELLANO
Iceland	Árni BRAGASON
	Fahmuddin AGUS
Indonesia	Yiyi SULAEMAN
	Nona GAE LUNA
	Bahram TAHERI
	Jahanbakhsh MIRZAVAND
	Shahin GHORASHIZADEH
Iran	Mohammad Hossein EMADI
101	Esmaeili Falak ALIREZA
	Alireza MARIDNEJAD
	Anne MARES
	Alireza ESMAILI
Iraq	Iman SAHIB
Israel	Alon MAOR

	Michal VAYA
	Yael RUBINSTEIN
Italy	Filiberto ALTOBELLI
	Giorgio M. CAVALIERI
	Anna BENEDETTI
Jamaica	Joan MORRISON
Jordan	Mahmoud Hasan ALFRAIHAT
Kenya	Teresa TUMWET
Kyrgyzstan	Ermek BAIBAGYSHOV
Latvia	Laura LIEPINA
Libya	Tarek Bek DARNA
Malawi	Gilbert KUPUNDA
Mexico	Jose Luis DELGADO CRESPO
	Angela DOGOTARI
Moldova	Tamara LEAH
Mongolia	Enkhtuya BAZARRADNAA
Могоссо	Rachid MOUSSADEK
Mozambique	Cesar GOUVEIA
Myanmar	Su Su WINOWIECKI
Namibia	Penda NAANDA
Nepal	Chandra Prasad RISAL
Netherlands	Hans BRAND
New Zealand	Donald SYME
Niger	Addam Kiari SAIDOU
Nigeria	Victor CHUDE
Oman	Hamdan AL WAHAIBI
Palestine, State of	Imad GHANMAMEH
Panama	Jose VILLARREAL
Damu	Alberto CORTÉS
Peru	Gustavo MOSTAJO
Poland	Grzegorz SIEBIELEC
Portugal	António PERDIGÃO
Republic of North Macedonia	Dusko MUKAETOV
Russian Federation	Kirill ANTYUKHIN
Rwanda	Pascal RUSHEMUKA
Serbia	Marija DRAGOVIC
Slovakia	Jaroslava SOBOCKÁ
Slovenia	Petra KARO BEŠTER

	Helena MATOZ
Spain	Paloma MELGAREJO NARDIZ
Sudan	Adbelmagid ELMOBARAK ELHAG
Swaziland	Patrick Bhekisisa DLAMINI
Sweden	Erik KARLTUN
Switzerland	Tim KRAENZLEIN
Syria	MHD Manhal ALHUSIN ALZOUBI
	Federica VESCHI
	Supajit SRIARIYAWAT
Thailand	Ratchanok SANGPENCHAN
	Thanawat TIENSIN
	Pitayakon LIMTONG
Tonga	Viliami MANU
Trinidad and Tobago	Gabrielle DE SOUZA
Tunisia	Leila BEN DHIAB
Turkey	Hakki Emrah ERDOGAN
Тикеу	Tarik TOPCU
Ukraine	Arkadiy LEVIN
UKI dille	Sviatoslav BALIUK
United States of America	Tommie WILLIAMS
United States of America	David LINDBO
Uruguay	Fernando Martin FONTES TUCAT
Uruguay	Ana Laura MOREIRA DE LEON
Venezuela	Juan REY
Vietnam	Tran Minh TIEN

Other Participants *

Affiliation	Participant
4 per 1000 (France)	Paul LUU
A.I.M. LTD (United Kingdom)	Antony John MOUZAS
Advocacy Colalition for Sustainable Agriculture (ACSA) (Uganda)	Harriet NAKASI
Agri Net Solutions (India)	Dharmesh VERMA
Agricultural Research Corporation (ARC) (Sudan)	Nuha KHAMIS
Agriculture University, Jodhpur, Rajasthan, India (India)	Ummed SINGH
Agrilab - Farming and Engineering Services Limited (Italy)	Luca DESIDERI
ARCA srl benefit (Agricoltura per la Rigenerazione Controllata	Martina PIRANI

dell'Ambiente) (Italy)	
Asociación costarricense de la ciencia del suelo-ACCS (Costa Rica)	Floria BERTSCH
Association pour la Promotion d'une Agriculture Durable (APAD) (France)	Gerard RASS
Australian Organics Recycling Association (Australia)	Peter OLAH
BETA Tech. Center (University of Vic) (Spain)	Evan MARKS
Brazilian Soil Science Society (Brazil)	Gonçalo FARIAS
BRGM (France)	Philippe NEGREL
Cairo University (Egypt)	Nader MOHAMED
Catholic Relief Services	Axel SCHMIDT
Centre for International Sustainable Development Law (United Kingdom)	Cairo ROBB
CGIAR - CCAFS	Ciniro COSTA JUNIOR
Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences (China)	Huijuan MO
CIRAD - La recherche agronomique pour le développement (France)	Julien DEMENOIS
College of Micronesia (Micronesia)	Nat TUIVAVALAGI
Colorado State University (USA)	Diana WALL
CORAF/WECARD	Abdulai JALLOH
	Claudia FONTANA
	Danilo MARANDOLA Edoardo Antonio Costantino COSTANTINI
CREA (Italy)	Gabriella ROSSI
	Guido BONATI
	Maria FANTAPPIE
	Petra ENGEL
	Rosario NAPOLI
	Enrique DOBLAS MIRANDA
CREAF (Spain)	Pilar ANDRES
CRISP - Centro di Ricerca Interdipartimentale sulla "Earth Critical Zone" per il supporto alla Gestione del Paesaggio e	
dell'Agroambiente (Italy) CSIR - Soil Research Institute (Ghana)	Paola ADAMO
CSIRO (Australia)	Adams SADICK
	Peter WILSON
	Gao YANG
Cultivated Land Quality Monitoring and Protection Center, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs (China)	Machang BAO
	Ren YI
Cultore di Matoria Universital Darli Chudi Dall'Aquila (Italia)	Zheng LEI
Cultore di Materia Universita' Degli Studi Dell'Aquila (Italy)	Daniela Maria SPERA

DAFF (South Africa)	Adolph Mothoka MALATJI
Department of Agricultural Research and Specialist Services	· ·
(Swaziland)	Bongani Lucky MVUBU
Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine (Ireland) Department of Earth and Environmental Science, KSKV	Niall Thomas RYAN
Kachchh University (India)	Seema SHARMA
Ecología y Ciencias Ambientales de la Facultad de Ciencia de Uruguay (Uruguay)	Adriana MONTANEZ
	Beata MADARI
	George BROWN
EMBRAPA (Brazil)	Ieda MENDES
LIMDNAFA (DI dzii)	José Carlos POLIDORO
	Pedro Luiz DE FREITAS
	Maria Jose SAMPAIO
Europian Contar for Food Cocurity (ECEC) (Bussian Enderation)	Anna KONTOBOYTSEVA
Eurasian Center for Food Security (ECFS) (Russian Federation)	Pavel KRASILNIKOV
European Environment Agency	Rainer BARITZ
European Society for Soil Conservation	José Luis RUBIO DELGADO
European Soil Data Centre	Marc VAN LIEDEKERKE
	Carlos TARAZONA
	Daler DOMULLODZHANOV
	Eduardo MANSUR
	Emily TANGANELLI
	Isabelle DENIS
	Linxi JIANG
	Maria Helena SEMEDO
	Oksana DAVIS
FAO	Sally BUNNING
	Sara MARJANIZADEH
	Sasha KOO
	Saud AL FARSI
	Sebastian BRAHENE
	Sergio FERRARO
	SV DIVVAAKAR
	Tamara STEPANOVA
	Yuji NIINO
Federal Ministry for Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (Germany)	Ingo BÖTTCHER
Forward Thinkers Academy (Swaziland)	Jean Baptiste RWANIKA
Geological Survey of Norway (Norway)	Belinda Eline FLEM

Geological Survey of Sweden (Sweden)	Anna LADENBERGER
Georgian Soil Science Society (Georgia)	Ilia KUNCHULIA
German Aerospace Center (Germany)	Oliver DILLY
Global Capital Investment Limited (GCI)	Sarkal JYAKHWA
Government College University Faisalabad, Pakistan (Pakistan)	Muhammad RIAZ
	Carolina OLIVERA
	Christian OMUTO
	Clara LEFEVRE
	Filippo BENEDETTI
	Giulia STANCO
	Giusy EMILIANO
	Helen DEJENIE
	Hugo BOURHIS
	Isabelle VERBEKE
	Kostiantyn VIATKIN
	Lucrezia CAON
GSP Secretariat	Marc VICENS FERRER
	Matteo SALA
	Monica KOBAYASHI
	Natalia RODRIGUEZ EUGENIO
	Natalia GAVRYLIUK
	Natalia RODRIGUEZ
	Ronald VARGAS
	Rosa CUEVAS
	Vanja MASLOVARIK
	Yusuf YIGINI
	Yuxin TONG
	Zineb BAZZA
ICGC - Institut Cartogràfic i Geològic de Catalunya (Spain)	Marc VICENS FERRER
	Emilio ASCASO SASTRÓN
IFA	Yvonne HARZ-PITRE
IFAB (INTA-CONICET) (Argentina)	Andrea ENRIQUEZ
ILVO - Flanders Research Institute for Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (Belgium)	Fabio CASTALDI
Indonesian Agency for Agricultural Research and Development (Bangladesh)	Jalal UDDIN
	Cristina ARIAS NAVARRO
INRAE (France)	Jean-François SOUSSANA
Institut de recherche pour le développement (IRD) (France)	Christian HARTMANN

	Ludovic COCOGNE
Institute of Soil Science and Agrochemistry (Azerbaijan)	Fikrat FEYZIYEV
Instituto de Innovacion Agroalimentaria (Mexico)	Laura Bertha REYES SÁNCHEZ
Instituto de Investigación de Recursos Biológicos Alexander von Humboldt (Colombia)	Paola Johanna ISAACS CUBIDES
	Rodrigo MORENO VILLAMIL
Instituto de Investigaciones de la Amazonia Peruana (Peru)	Litcely HILARES VARGAS
Instituto Nacional de Tecnología Agropecuaria (INTA)	Guillermo PERALTA
Argentina (Argentina)	Miguel A. TABOADA
Instituto Nacional para a Investigação e Desenvolvimento Agrário (Cabo Verde)	Eduardo AMARILDO DOS REIS
International Atomic Eenergy Agency	Emil FULAJTAR
International Foundation of Organic Agriculture Movements	Cristina GRANDI
International Institute of Tropical Agriculture	Joseph UPONI
International Plant Nutrition Institute	Rob MIKKELSEN
ISPRA (Italy)	Marco DI LEGINIO
ISRIC World Soil Information	Fenny VAN EGMOND
Italian National Research Council - CNR (Italy)	Erica LUMINI
	David LOBB
	Lucia ANJOS
	Maria KONYUSHKOVA
	maria costanza CALZOLARI
ITPS	Martha BOLAÑOS-BENAVIDES
	Megan BALKS
	Peter DE RUITER
	Rosa Maria POCH CLARET
	Samuel FRANCKE
IUGS Commission on Global Geochemical Baselines	Alecos DEMETRIADES
Jawaharlal Nehru Agricultural University(JNKVV) (India)	Rajneesh KHARGHARIA
Kazakh National Agrarian University (Kazakhstan)	Maira KUSSAINOVA
Land Development Department (Thailand)	Benjaporn CHAKRANON
	Nopmanee SUVANNANG
Landcare Research NZ (New Zealand)	Gerard GREALISH
LLC Company Zemlerob	Valeriya VASHCHENKO
Loccioni (Italy)	Gino ROMITI
M.V.Lomonosov Moscow State University (Russian Federation)	Golovanov DMITRII
	Oleg GOLOZUBOV
Ministère de l'Europe et des Affaires étrangères (France)	Héloise VAN BESIEN
Ministerio de Agricultura y Riego (Peru)	Rafael BALTA

Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación (Spain)	Bibiana RODRIGUEZ
	Maria Luisa BALLESTEROS
Ministerio de Ambiente y Desarrollo Sostenible (Colombia)	Diana Catalina JIMENEZ TORRES
	Lorena BEJARANO
	Elisabetta LANZELLOTTO
Ministry of Agricultural Food and Forestry Policies (Italy)	Guilio CARDINI
	Viola GENTILE
Ministry of Agriculture (Ecuador)	Sandra PAULINA
Ministry of Agriculture (Swaziland)	Wisdom DLAMINI
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry of Turkey, DG of Agricultural Research and Policies (Turkey)	Sevinc MADENOGLU
Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (Israel)	Maya ZAHAVI HERTZ
Ministry of Agriculture and Water Resources (Thailand)	Jaiaree SATHAPORN
	Pitayakon LIMTONG
Ministry of Agriculture of Azerbaijan Republic (Azerbaijan)	Arshad YASHAR
Ministry of Agriculture of the Russian Federation (Russian	Ekaterina FOMINA
Federation)	Tatiana VOLODKO
Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Rural Development/Kosovo Institute of Agriculture (Kosovo)	Valmire HAVOLLI
Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality (Netherlands)	Johannes Marinus BRAND
Ministry of Environment and Energy (Croatia)	Marija VIHOVANEC SABO
Mohammed VI Polytechnic University, Morocco, Benguerir Center for Soil and Fertilizer Research (Morocco)	Fassil KEBEDE
NARSS - National Authority for Remote Sensing and Space Sciences (Egypt)	Abdelaziz BELAL
National Academy of Science of Ukraine (Ukraine)	Lidiya MOKLYACHUK
National Agricultural Research Organization (NARO) (Uganda)	Bernard Lukoye FUNGO
National Center for Remote Sensing (Lebanon)	Talal DARWICH
National Scientific Center "Institute for Soil Science and Agrochemistry Research named after O.N.Sokolovsky" (Ukraine)	Mykola MIROSHNYCHENKO
National Soil Resources Institute, Cranfield University (United Kingdom)	Caroline KEAY
Nepalese Society of Soil Science (Nepal)	Shree Prasad VISTA
NIBIO (Norway)	Bente FØREID
	Abdelmonim ELKANIT
	Aniss BOURAQQADI
	Arrassen MARWANE
OCP Group	Faycal BENAMEUR
	Hajar CHBANI
	Hajar MOUNTASSIR

	Mamo SELAMAWIT
	Roudies NAWFEL
	Tarik ZERRAK
	Younes BERRADA
Plant Wealth, Ministry of work, Municipalities Affairs and Urban	Abdelmoneim ELGUBSHAWI
Planing (Bahrain)	Ebrahim AHMED
Pwani University (Kenya)	Esther MUINDI
Red Internacional de Promotores ODS	Gisela Maria Agostina AGUIRRE
Dethemated Descarde	Carolina LISBOA
Rothamsted Research	Gifty ACQUAH
School of Agricultural Technology, Walailak University (Thailand)	Somsak MANEEPONG
School of Life Sciences and Technology, Institut Teknologi	Tati Suryati SYAMSUDIN
Bandung, Indonesia (Indonesia)	Sol ORTIZ GARCIA
Secretariat of Agriculture and Rural Development (Mexico)	Veronica Eva BUNGE VIVIER
SINCHI Amazonic Institute of Scientific Research (Colombia)	Jessika CARVAJAL
Sociedad Colombiana de la Ciencia del Suelo (Colombia)	
Soil and Water Management Service Unit (Gambia)	Amparito ROJAS
Soil and Water Resources Center, Directorate of Agricultural	Abdoulie BAH
Research, Ministry of Science and Tech. (Iraq)	Sadeq Jaafar Hasan DWENEE
Soil Composition and Repository, Quality Analysis Center - State Unitary Company (Uzbekistan)	Shovkat KHOLDOROV
Soil Science Society (USA)	Charles RICE
Soil Solution Gambia (SSGM) (Gambia)	Ebrima JARRA
South American Mycorrhizal Research Network	Cesar Andres MARIN DAZA
State Institution "Soils protection institute of Ukraine" (Ukraine)	Igor IATSUK
State Institution "Soils protection institute of Ukraine" (Ukraine)	Yevhenii YARMOLENKO
Technologico Nacional de Mexico (Mexico)	Lenin MEDINA
The Institute of Microbiology and Biotechnology, Republic of Moldova (Moldova)	Serghei CORCIMARU
The James Hutton Institute (United Kingdom)	Allan LILLY
Thuenen Institute of Forest Ecosystems (Germany)	Nicole WELLBROCK
Timesis (Yemen)	Mauro PIAZZI
UDCA (Colombia)	Melissa LIS
UNCCD	Barron Joseph ORR
UNITO (Italy)	Íris VICTORINO
Universidad de la República (Uruguay)	Vagner LOPES DA SILVA
Universidad Nacional Abierta y a Distancia UNAD (Colombia)	Franklin Gerardo OJEDA CASTRO
Universidad Nacional Agraria La Molina (Peru)	Patricia VERASTEGUI MARTINEZ

Universidade do Algarve (Portugal)	Maria de la Cruz FERRO VAZQUEZ
Universidade Federal de Vicosa (Brazil)	Leonardus VERGUTZ
Università degli studi dell'Aquila (Italy)	Agata SPERA
Università degli Studi di Palermo (Italy)	Carmelo DAZZI
	Riccardo SCALENGHE
Universitas Halu Oleo (Indonesia)	Andi NURMAS
	Laode Muhammad Harjoni
	KILOWASID Namriah LA SIHIDI
	Sutariati GUSTI AYU KADE
Universitas Nusa Bangsa (Indonesia)	Andi MASNANG
Université de Liège (Belgium)	Cécile NOUET
University of Agriculture Faisalabad (Pakistan)	Raza ULLAH
University of Barcelona (Spain)	Amparo CORTÉS
University of Burgos (Spain)	Sandra CURIEL ALEGRE
University of Coimbra (Portugal)	Marie BARTZ
University of Embu (Kenya)	Hannah KARURI
University of Foggia (Italy)	Francesco Giuseppe PISTILLO
University of Ghana (Ghana)	Kpadonou GBEDEHOUE ESAIE
University of Groningen (Netherlands)	Maarten MEIJER
University of Malta (Malta)	Paul GAUCI
University of Pannonia (Hungary)	Gergely László DR. TÓTH
University of Plymouth (United Kingdom)	William BLAKE
University of San Paolo (Brazil)	Diego BARCELLOS
University of the Philippines Los Baños (Philippines)	Maureen Ceres DE ROXAS
University of the West Indies (Trinidad and Tobago)	Gaius EUDOXIE
University of Tuscia (Italy)	Fabiana CANINI
	Laura ZUCCONI GALLI FONSECA
USDA (United States of America)	Richard FERGUSON
Viceministerio de Desarrollo Productivo Agropecuario (Ecuador)	Tatiana PAREDES VALDIVIESO
Viceministerio de Tierras de Bolivia (Bolivia)	Hernan FIGUEREDO
WOCAT	Tatenda LEMANN
WFP	Sirio MODUGNO
YESS-COMMUNITY	Karuri THIONGO
Youth Agrarian Society	Antje HECHELTJEN
ZALF	Alevtina EVGRAFOVA
No identified affiliations	Angela MORENA

Elena NIMCHUK
Ellen O'Brien KAVANAGH
Eric CARTAGENA
Joseph HEFLER
Juan Lacuesta MOREIRA
Norbelto CASTRO
Roubini ECHAVE

* In addition, 91 participants were not registered, so their names and affiliations are not available.